1954

State of Utah v. Paul Buddy S. Clair : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

An information charging Paul Buddy St. Clair with the crime of murder in the first degree was filed on September 14, 1953. A motion for change of venue was filed with the Court on September 14, 1953, on the grounds that a fair and impartial trial could not be had in Tooele County. This motion was, by the court, denied, and a plea

of not guilty was entered by the defendant, and the case came on for trial on January 12, 1954.

The jury was duly impanelled and sworn to try the case, and the State proceeded to offer testimony in support of the charges of first degree murder as alleged in the information. Such testimony disclosed that Paul St. Clair went to the home of the deceased, Vesta Wittke, at about 1:15 A. M. on the morning of July 6th, 1953. There is a conflict of testimony as to just what occurred there, but it is certain that Mrs. Wittke was shot two times and died from these wounds at about 11:05 P. M. that same day.

Mr. Sam J. Walters testified for the State that the defendant had come to his home the night before the shooting, borrowed a gun and shells from him, telling him he was going to go target shooting with a friend.
(R. 10)

Patricia Wittke testified that she had known defendant about one year, that he had

boarded with the Wittke family for some time, the last time being about Thanksgiving of the previous year. She further testified that on the night of July 5th, 1953, she had a date in the early part of the evening. She returned home about 11:30 P. M., talked with her mother for awhile (R. 20), and she went to bed in the room where she and her mother usually slept. She was later awakened by her mother saying "My God, Paul, don't." She then saw defendant shoot from the foot of her mother's bed (R.22). She went over to him and grabbed his hair, and her mother, the deceased, got out of bed and started hitting Paul. Patricia's older brother, Dayton, responded to Vesta's call, and took the gun from defendant, holding in on him. Dayton told her to go get the ".22, the shot gun". This she did, loaded it, and took it to Dayton. Dayton told her to go get Bruce Sagers, the next door neighbor, and to tell him to call Fay Gillete, the sheriff. This she did, and

the front porch. The defendant was gone. She went in to her mother, now in bed, who asked her if she had called the ambulance or doctor. Upon being told no, Vesta, the deceased, asked her to go call them (R. 29). She ran again over to Sagers, and Mr. Sagers informed her that the sheriff had taken care of that. Her mother then told her not to go to pieces, that she had to take care of Don, and told her to kiss her, and "she said good-bye."

Dayton Wittke testified that about two days before the shooting his mother came in and got him out of bed during the night, and told him to go call the sheriff, as Paul was there. He went into the kitchen, where his mother and Paul were. Paul kept asking for the keys to his car, which Vesta had taken, and Vesta told him she could not give them to him until the sheriff got there. A scuffle ensued, during which Mrs. Wittke hit Paul two or three times over the head with a poker. (R. 40)

On the night of July 5th, 1953, Dayton retired about 11 P. M. He was awakened about 1:30 A. M. by Patricia's screaming. Upon entering his mother's bedroom, he saw his mother and Patricia crouching with the defendant, who then sat down in a rocking chair. He took the gun from defendant, who then said, "Go ahead and shoot me." Dayton pointed the gun at him, pulled the trigger, but the gun mis-fired. He told Patricia to get the .22, held this on defendant after getting it, during which time the defendant repeatedly kept saying, "Go ahead and shoot me." (R. 41) Defendant finally walked out through the kitchen. A brother of Pat and Dayton then came in, and Dayton instructed him to get the shotgun; he then followed Paul with both guns, and took a shot at the car in which Paul was pulling away with the .22 (R. 42).

At this time Patricia returned from Sagers', and then informed Dayton that his mother had been shot. Dayton had not known

went in to her, tried to comfort her, and found a bullet hole in her chest and abdomen (R. 42).

Dr. Wallace Johnson testified on behalf of the State that he examined Mrs. Wittke early in the morning of July 6th, 1953; that he found two wounds having the appearance of bullet holes; and that she was then in critical condition. She expired that same day at 11:05 P. M. He stated in his opinion that death resulted from gunshot wounds. (He later removed the two bullets from the body and turned them over to the sheriff.) (R.55)

Jack Wittke, a minor son of deceased, testified that he frequently went hunting and shooting with the defendant. (R. 58)

Mr. Bruce Sagers, a next door neighbor of the Wittke's, testified that he heard what he thought were firecrackers, early in the morning of July 6th, 1953. He then heard screaming, and saw Patricia running over to his house. She called out, "Mr. Sagers, Paul has shot mother." (R.60) He

called the sheriff, and then went over to the Witke home. When he went in to Vesta's bedroom, she said, "Bruce, before I pass out, I would like you to know what Paul said to me. He came in, flashed on the light and said, 'Vesta, this is pay day', and began firing at me." (R. 63) She also asked Mr. Sagers to call the doctor and ambulance (R. 63), and to try to quiet the children.

Mr. James W. Park, deputy sheriff of Tooele County, testified that he examined the back screen door of the Witke home, and found that it had been cut near the latch.

Mr. Fay Gillete's testimony ran to three different occasions. First, he testified that he picked up the defendant shortly after he had been beaten over the head by the deceased with a poker, and that in his opinion he was drunk at the time. He further testified that while he was taking the defendant in to Tooele to have his head stitched and bandaged, that defendant said he would get even with that smart little son of a b----,

for Vesta. Defendant said Vesta owed him some money, that he had done a favor for her and Dayton, and that there would be a pay day. (R. 72)

He also testified that Vesta has communicated to him of threats being made upon her by the defendant, and that she was worried about her and her children's welfare (R. 73). This testimony was stricken out, but it remains important for the purposes of this appeal, which will be discussed later.

Upon arriving at the Wittke home the night of the shooting, he found Vesta in bed with two bullet holes in her body. There were also bullet holes at the head of the bed and in the east wall of the bedroom. He found a gun on the bed with five shells in it, three having been fired; and the one under the firing pin having been hit by the firing pin, but remaining intact. (P. 79)

Dr. Jack Tedrow, called by the defense, testified that he examined defendant on October 14, 1953, and that he found a large

being asked what the effect of such a blow might be, he replied, "From the intellectual standpoint it could result in poor ability to concentrate, a poor memory, and poor judgment. From the emotional standpoint it could result in hyper-irritability so the person doesn't have his emotional control he ordinarily has." (R. 86)

The defendant took the stand in his own behalf, and testified that he went to the Wittke home, in response to a telephone call from Mrs. Wittke telling him she wanted to see him. Upon arriving there, he went in through the unlocked back screen door, didn't find Mrs. Wittke in the kitchen on the love seat where she usually met him, so went in to her bedroom. He switched on the light, and Mrs. Wittke said, "I see you finally arrived". (R. 111) He asked what she wanted to see him about, and she informed him that she wanted to forget about the beating on the head, and go back on the conditions they had previously. (R. 118)

Defendant informed her that he wouldn't do

this; that everything was finished; that he didn't want anything more to do with her. He informed her that she could add the \$15.00 it took to sew up his head to what she already owed him. She asked if he was coming back (R. 112), and he said "No, Vesta, I think this is pay day for us. I think we are settled." To this she said, "I don't owe you a thing, Paul, you have been completely paid up - do you remember?" (R. 112) Defendant then testified that he gathered from that that he had been buying his favors, and from then until he found himself sitting on the edge of the chair, with Dayton standing over to the right of him, and the gun lying on the bed, he remembered nothing. (R. 113) He testified that he doesn't remember Dayton's picking the gun up, pointing it at him and pulling the trigger, nor Pat's pulling his hair, nor Vesta's hitting him. (R. 114) He left in his car, and later that afternoon was apprehended by the sheriff, having returned to the vicinity after being to Wendover, Utah, and

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

I.

The Court erred in allowing witness Fay Gillete to testify concerning an alleged conversation containing threats, made by defendant to deceased.

II.

The Court erred in allowing the witness, Bruce Sagers, to testify concerning statements the deceased made to him shortly after the shooting.

III.

The Court erred in failing to recognize the inadmissibility of the testimony given by sheriff Fay Gillete, concerning statements the deceased made to him shortly after the shooting.

IV.

The evidence was insufficient to support the verdict of the jury.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING WITNESS FAY GILLETE TO TESTIFY CONCERNING AN ALLEGED

CONVERSATION CONTAINING THREATS, MADE BY
DEFENDANT TO DECEASED. (Specification of
Error No. 1)

The Court erred in admitting over defendant's objection certain hearsay evidence offered by the State, viz., statements attributed to the deceased in an alleged conversation with Sheriff Fay Gillette on the night of July 5th, 1953 (R. 73). After such hearsay evidence was admitted, the Court further erred in failing to admonish the jury to disregard it, and later, in refusing to give a special instruction concerning it, as requested by defense counsel, to which exception was taken (R. 181).

The State questioned Sheriff Fay Gillette (R. 73), as to a conversation he had with deceased on the night of July 5, 1953. The Sheriff was asked, "Why did she call you?" He answered, "She was worried, worried about her welfare and her children's welfare." The State then asked, "Why was she worried?" At this point objection was made as to the question and motion was made to strike the conversation. This objection and motion the Court denied.

The sheriff was allowed to continue as follows: "She told me that she had been called at work several times from Paul St. Clair, at least once from Salt Lake by Paul St. Clair, and other times in which she had been threatened and she was agitated and worried, - - and she was worried quite a great deal."

Defense counsel moved to strike this testimony, and the State joined in the motion, stating that it joined also in defendant's preceding motion to strike. The Court made no comment concerning this motion or the preceding motion or the testimony against which the motions were directed, and the State then continued its examination of Sheriff Gillete. Thus, the Court erred, first in admitting Sheriff Gillete's testimony as to his alleged conversation with deceased; and second, in failing then to admonish the jury to disregard that testimony.

In the case of State v. Nichols, 106 Utah 104, the Court granted a new trial

because error was committed by admitting hearsay evidence in a second degree burglary prosecution. Hearsay evidence was introduced as to a conversation police officers had with a certain party regarding cartons of cigarettes which with a .32 calibre long revolver were the subject of the burglary. The officer testified that his informant told him about defendant's getting the cigarettes, and then getting him to sell them. After the sale the proceeds were split with the defendant. On the basis of the identity given in that conversation, the police located the defendant in a hotel room with a woman and another man, and found there also the gun which with the cigarettes constituted the burglary. Objection was made to this testimony and was overruled by the Court. At the conclusion of the testimony the Court did sustain the objection and granted a motion to strike. This Court held, at page 108:

"The damage was already done by this incompetent testimony as evidenced by detailed examination of all testimony and the verdict of the jury. Even had

the trial court explained this incompetency to the jury, and instructed them expressly to disregard it, it is doubtful that the injurious effect could have been overcome."

It will be noted that the prejudice which has resulted to the appellant in this case is greater by far than that which resulted to the defendant in the last cited case, since here a capital punishment is involved.

This testimony not only prejudiced a substantial right of the defendant; the weight which must have been given to it by the jurors obviously affected any consideration which they gave as to a recommendation of imprisonment rather than the death penalty. Such evidence of threats allegedly made by the defendant to the deceased could have acted in no other way than to incite the passions and prejudice of the jury against the defendant.

Counsel here urgently contend that this testimony has wrongfully and greatly prejudiced the rights of the defendant, and the only remedy available to him is the granting of a new trial.

II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE WITNESS, BRUCE SAGERS, TO TESTIFY CONCERNING STATEMENTS THE DECEASED MADE TO HIM, SHORTLY AFTER THE SHOOTING. (Specification of Error No. 11.)

The trial court permitted witness Bruce Sagers to testify concerning statements the deceased allegedly made shortly after the shooting had occurred. The defendant objected to the presentation of this evidence (R. 82), on the grounds that the proper foundation for dying declarations had not been laid; but the Court allowed the testimony in as a dying declaration.

The testimony to which objection was made is as follows: "Bruce, before I pass out I would like you to know what Paul said to me. He came in, flashed on the light and said, 'Vesta this is pay day' and began firing at me." (R. 83) This statement was alleged to have been made by deceased shortly after the shooting, just after Bruce Sagers, the next door neighbor was sum-

deceased's daughter.

It is fundamental to our system of jurisprudence that a dying declaration, in order to be admissible into evidence, must meet certain rigid and exacting tests. Unless such tests and requirements are fully met, the courts universally hold such evidence non-admissible, since it is hearsay, with no adequate safeguard for admission. The tests to be met are as follows: (1) The statements must be those of deceased (in a homicide case where the death of the declarant is the subject of the charge); (2) the circumstances under which the statements were made must be shown; (3) the condition of the injured person must be shown; (4) It must be shown that the declarant was conscious at the time the statement was made; (5) The statements must have been made while the declarant was under a sense of impending death and while entertaining no hope of recovery.

Counsel for appellant contend that requirement number five has not been met, and, therefore, the statement did not meet the requirements

for a dying declaration. In this respect, counsel for appellant further contend that the admission into evidence of this testimony was prejudicial to the appellant, since the only other evidence concerning what happened while the deceased and appellant were in deceased's bedroom, came from appellant's testimony, which is materially different from deceased's testimony and which could not have upheld a verdict of first-degree murder.

The dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule was first born because it was considered that a person about to die, and who knew he was going to die, is less likely to falsify his statements than a person having a hope of recovery. It has been said that this acts the same as an oath, and gives the statement made a degree of truthfulness.

Much litigation has arisen over the question as to whether or not there was a sense of impending death; whether or not the declarant knew the "finger of death" was upon him; whether or not the declarant had any hope, whatsoever, of recovery.

Warren on Homicide, Vol. 3, P. 7, states the universal rule in this area:

"But something more must appear than mere fear on his part that death might be the result of his injuries, or a mere belief that he would ultimately die therefrom. He must have believed that death was impending and certain; that is, that it would certainly come from the effects of the injury inflicted upon him, that it was near at hand, and might at any moment seize him."

In the same volume at P. 13, Warren further states the rule to be:

"To render dying declarations competent as evidence, it must appear that the person making them did so not only under a sense of impending death, but while entertaining no hope of recovery."

To this statement, Warren cites supporting cases from twenty-nine jurisdictions.

The courts have strongly emphasized the urgent need for this requirement of a knowledge of impending death in the declarant at the time of the making of the statement, in order to qualify it as a dying declaration. The California case of *People v. Hodgdon*, 55 Cal. 72, 36 Am. Rep. 30, is typical of all the well-decided cases on this point.

In this case, the alleged dying declaration was reduced to writing, and the writing offered as evidence. The court held it not to be admissible, since the statement said, "Believing I am very near death * * *". The court pointed out that a mere belief would not suffice. The case of *Smith v. Commonwealth*, 113 Ky. 19, 23 Ky. L. Rep., 227, 67 S. W. 32, further substantiates this doctrine by saying that an expression by deceased of belief that he would not recover, is not admissible. The following cases support the doctrine that the belief of the declarant requisite to the admissibility of his statement as a dying declaration must reach the point of certainty that all hope of recovery is gone:

- a. *Com. v. Pallon*, 268 Mass. 494, 193 N. E. 68;
- b. *Wilkinson v. State*, 143 Miss., 324, 108 So. 211;
- c. *State v. Johnson*, 118 Mo. 491, 24 S. W., 299.

It is of necessity very difficult to determine what viewpoint a now deceased person took of his condition at a given time.

If the deceased person has made an affirmative statement as to his certain belief of impending death, such as, "I am a dead man", or "I know I will not recover from this wound", the problem is over. But too often as is the case here, the view that the deceased did take must be ascertained from other statements and acts, which all too often are ambiguous and capable of diverse interpretations. It is when dealing with such a situation that the problem becomes acute. Such a condition did exist in the case of *People v. Sanchez*, 24 Cal. 17, wherein the deceased made no statement as to his view of his condition. There the facts surrounding all the deceased said and did had to be looked at to determine the admissibility of the statement. True, the court held the statement admissible, after pointing out that the wounds were evidently mortal; that he was unable to converse except at intervals, and then with such difficulty and pain; that his physician unequivocally told him he had absolutely no hope of recovery; and that he

had sent for a priest to receive the last offices of his church, appointed for the dying only. But in receiving this, the court emphatically points out the conclusiveness of the requirements which must be met; the necessity for an appearance that the deceased knew he was about to die, and could not recover. The court points out the danger of such testimony if the requirements are not all present at page 24:

"This species of testimony should always be received with the greatest caution, and too much care can not be observed by the court in scrutinizing the primary facts upon which its admissibility is granted. No person is entirely exempt from a disposition to excuse and justify his own conduct, or to inflict vengeance upon one at whose hands he has suffered a grievous wrong; and in the eye of the law, this proclivity is presumed, in cases like the present, to be overcome and silenced only by the presence of almost immediate death. An undoubting belief existing in the mind of the declarant, at the time the declarations are made, that the finger of death is upon him, is indispensable to that sanction which the law exacts; and if it shall appear in any mode that there was a hope of recovery, however faint it may have been, still lingering in his breast, that sanction is not afforded, and his statement can not be received."

It will be noted here that the deceased, Mrs. Wittke, did not make any statement as to even a belief that she might die from the wounds inflicted upon her. She apparently had some view, some opinion of her condition, and it is this opinion that must now be determined. What view did she take of her condition? The court said, in State v. McNair, 53 Ut. 99, 178 P. 48, that this view must be determined to enable the court to discover whether the statements actually were made while the declarant was under a sense of immediate death. In the last cited case the court said:

"We think the rule is correctly stated by the Supreme Judicial Court of Mass. in Commonwealth v. Roberts, 108 Mass., 296, as follows: "The admissibility of such declarations does not depend upon any particular form of expression, for these will vary indefinitely, but it depends upon the view which the deceased took of his own case when in imminent danger of death."

Mrs. Wittke, the deceased, said: "Bruce, before I pass out, I want you to know what Paul said * * * " (R. 63) It is inconceivable that by the words, "Before I pass out" can be interpreted to mean, "I know I am going to die

interpretation has seemingly been given to this very general and ambiguous statement by the trial court, to qualify the statement as a dying declaration. The popular interpretation of such a statement, as it is used in almost daily conversation, means "Before I lose consciousness". It is difficult to conceive how any other interpretation can be given to such a statement. Counsel for appellant contend that if this statement was used as a foundation for the rest of the statement which followed, concerning the manner in which she was shot, that the wrong interpretation was given it by the court; that the proper interpretation could not mean "I am about to die, and know I can not recover", and therefore this statement, "Before I pass out" lends nothing toward any opinion or view that deceased allegedly had as to being in extremis.

The following question then presents itself Is there anything else in the record which would give any indication of any view deceased may have had concerning the plight of her condition?

We find that she told Patricia, her daughter, not to go to pises, that she had to take care of Don, and told her to kiss her, and told her goodbye (R. 29). It is quite apparent that this statement too has been used to attempt to show that deceased knew she was in extremis. But a proper analysis of this testimony will also fail to show any indication that deceased knew she was about to die, and had no hope of recovery. Undoubtedly the little girl was extremely upset; she had just witnessed a shooting. It would be quite natural for her mother to call her to her side and attempt to calm her, to quiet her; and in doing so, she told her she had to take care of Don, the younger brother, to give her a sense of responsibility. Now, what did the deceased mean by telling Patricia she had to take care of Don? Did she mean, "Patricia, I am going to die soon, I can't possibly recover, so I am going to ask you, my fifteen year old daughter, to take care of Don for me". Or did she mean, "Patricia, I've been hurt badly and will probably be away in the

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