1954

State of Utah v. Paul Buddy S. Clair : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THERE WAS NO ERROR WITH RESPECT TO THE SHERIFF'S TESTIMONY ABOUT THREATS MADE BY DEFENDANT; IN ANY CASE THE INCIDENT WAS WITHOUT PREJUDICIAL EFFECT.

Defendant assigns as error an occurrence during the direct examination of Sheriff Gillette. It is contended that improper evidence of threats made by defendant were thereby brought before the jury. The passage complained of is as follows (commencing R. 72, 1. 25) :

“Q. Did you see Vesta Wittke between the 3rd and 6th?

“A. I did.

“Q. Where did you see her?

“A. I seen her once down town, and was called at least three times at the office by her, and she visited my home the night of the 5th, the night of July 5th.

“Q. And why did she call you?

“A. She was worried, worried about her welfare and her children's welfare.

“Q. Why was she worried?

“MR. HANSEN: I object to it, it is immaterial what she told the sheriff. I move to strike the conversation.

“THE COURT: The motion is denied.

“A. She told me that she had been called at work several times from Paul St. Clair, at least once from Salt Lake by Paul St. Clair, and other times in which she said she had been threatened and she was agitated and worried,—and she was worried quite a great deal.

“Q. Directing your attention—

“MR. HANSEN: I would like to make another motion that this answer be stricken, it is made by a declaration of the witness and not subject to cross

examination, and if this was a dying declaration it was long before the shooting.

“MR. ANDERSON: We will join in the motion; it may go out.

“MR. HANSEN: You also join in the other one?

“MR. ANDERSON: We join in the other one, the last two answers may go out.”

It is seen that the prosecutor promptly and unequivocally agreed that the testimony be stricken. There was no possible fairer way in which to have taken care of the matter. There can be no question therefore but that the jury knew that the testimony was not to be considered. In this respect they were charged (Instruction No. 13):

“You should not consider, or be influenced by, any evidence offered by not admitted, nor any evidence stricken out by the court, but only such evidence as has been admitted in the case. You should not consider, or be influenced by, any statement of counsel as to what the evidence is, unless they state it correctly, or by any statement of counsel of facts not shown in evidence, if any such has been made. You should not be influenced by any statements the court may have made in ruling upon questions of law or otherwise in your hearing, if any has been made, that seem to indicate any opinion upon any question of fact.”

In *State v. Hammond*, 46 U. 249, 148 P. 420, a bastardy case, improper evidence was received and then ordered stricken, the jury being instructed to disregard it. This procedure was held to protect defendant's rights. The same

principle applies here, and in this case there was no error with respect to this incident.

There is further reason why the court should not permit the episode outlined above to affect the appeal. The settled rule is that an error or defect, in order to be considered on appeal, must have had prejudicial effect. The rule has been applied by this court in *State v. Woods*, 62 U. 397, 220 P. 215, a murder case. In *State v. Hett, et al.*, 64 U. 505, 231 P. 838, erroneously admitted evidence was held to be prejudicial as to one of two co-defendants on trial for murder, and non-prejudicial as to the other defendant, whose conviction was affirmed. This rule has also been written by the Legislature into our Code of Criminal Procedure. Sec. 77-42-1, U. C. A. 1953, reads as follows:

“After hearing an appeal the court must give judgment without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties. If error has been committed, it shall not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice. The court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment.”

When the passage is read in context it is plain that no damage was done defendant by the incident because there was already other evidence of threats made by defendant against the woman he murdered. Such evidence was squarely before the jury, without objection, prior to the incident complained about here. Three days before the murder, and after the quarrel in deceased's kitchen, defendant made threats against deceased and her son in the presence of the sheriff. The sheriff's testimony is (R. 72) :

“A. He [defendant] told me he would get even with that smart little son-of-a-bitch Dayton; and he said there would be a pay day for Vesta. He related that she owed him some money. He had done a favor for her and for Dayton and there would be a pay day.”

Thus, before the incident here complained of, the jury already had before it other evidence painting a picture of a vengeful man sufficiently reckless to make his threats in the presence of the very officer of the law whose duty defendant knew it would be to enforce the law against him if he made good his threats. This incident was without prejudicial effect, or any effect at all, upon the result of the trial.

It is further to be noted that defendant raised no objection until part of the passage here complained about was before the jury. The sheriff had already said, after having properly testified to threats, that the deceased had called him and “was worried” immediately before the murder. It must be said that this occurrence was brought about by defendant as much as anyone else.

Respondent urges that this incident, looked at properly in context as against the background of the whole lengthy trial, is so trivial that the court should not deem it of any consequence.

POINT II.

THE ADMISSION OF THE WITNESS SAGER'S
TESTIMONY AS TO DECEASED'S DYING
DECLARATION WAS NOT ERROR.

Defendant in his Point II assigns as error the admission of a statement made by deceased after being shot. The testimony is that of her neighbor, Bruce Sagers, respecting a declaration made by deceased. The testimony was admitted on the theory that it was a dying declaration. Defendant urges here that foundation was lacking.

Murder cases involving dying declarations are numberless. Stated broadly, the rule is that the declaration can come in only if the declarant has abandoned hope of recovery and believes death to be near at hand. For a general statement, see 40 C. J. S., Homicide, Sec. 290. As a predicate for the admission of the declaration, the trial court must find the requisite consciousness of impending death.

Dean Wigmore's discussion of this problem is helpful. In *V Wigmore on Evidence*, 3rd Ed., Sec. 1442, it is said:

"In ascertaining this consciousness of approaching death, recourse should naturally be had to all the attending circumstances.

"It has been contended that only the statements of the declarant himself could be considered for this purpose; or, less broadly, that the nature of the injury alone could not be sufficient, i. e., in effect, that the declarant must have shown in some way by conduct or language that he knew he was going to die. This, however, is without good reason. We may avail ourselves of any means of inferring the existence of such knowledge; and, if in a given case the nature of the wound is such that the declarant must have realized his situation, our object is sufficiently attained.

"Such is the settled judicial attitude: [citing cases.]

* * * * *

“No rule can here be laid down. The circumstances of each case will show whether the requisite consciousness existed; and it is poor policy to disturb the ruling of the trial judge upon the meaning of these circumstances.” (Italics added.)

The question here is whether, all the circumstances considered, the trial court could reasonably have found a sufficient awareness on deceased's part of her then-impending death. To make this determination, the trial court had the following before it: deceased had just been mortally shot in the middle of the chest and in the abdomen. Both bullets passed through her body. The doctor who examined her characterized her condition at 1:50 a. m. thus (R. 53): “She was in shock; she had no palpable pulse, no blood pressure in the arm, her skin was cool and clammy.” And further: “She was certainly very critical, anyone that is in that severe shock is in danger of losing their life at any time.”

As to deceased's awareness of her condition, the trial court had heard evidence that deceased had said to her daughter, after the shooting (R. 29): “She told me not to go to pieces, that I had to take care of Don [the 9-year old boy]; and she told me to kiss her, and she said goodbye.”

The declaration complained of is (R. 63):

“She said ‘Bruce, before I pass out I would like you to know what Paul said to me. He come in flashed on the light and said “Vesta, this is payday” and began firing at me.’ ”

Defendant relies principally upon a narrow, rigid rule based upon older cases. He notes that deceased asked for medical help, and argues from this that she entertained a hope of recovery. This, it is said, negates admissibility. Defendant finds comfort for this view in an old Kentucky case, *Matherly v. Commonwealth* (1892), 14 Ky. L. Rep. 182, 19 S. W. 977. That case cannot be said to be good law at present. It is no longer the rule applied in Kentucky courts. In *Turner v. Commonwealth*, 268 Ky. 314, 104 S. W. 2d 1087, the Kentucky court said:

“It is claimed that the statements of the deceased are not competent as dying declarations, since it does not appear they were made under a sense of impending death. Several witnesses, including two or three introduced by appellant, testified that the deceased stated that he had been killed and requested that he be buried by the side of his mother. Such statements, coupled with the serious nature of the wound, indicated that the deceased was fully aware of his condition and was without hope of recovery. It is true that he expressed a desire to be taken to the hospital, but this does not negative the inference that he was laboring under a sense of impending death. As was said by this court in *Walls v. Com.*, 257 Ky. 478, 78 S. W. (2d) 322, 323, when speaking of statements admitted as dying declarations: ‘These statements were not rendered inadmissible by showing Stevens asked for a doctor and to be taken to a hospital; a man may make such requests in the hope of obtaining some relief from suffering.’ ”

See also *Bates v. Commonwealth*, 307 Ky. 357, 211 S. W. 2d 130. Another modern case in which a dying declaration

was admitted despite the request of deceased that a doctor be called is *Patterson v. State*, 199 Ga. 773, 35 S. E. 2d 504.

State v. McNair, 53 U. 99, 178 P. 48, is the only Utah case dealing with dying declarations. In that case, the victim had been shot and removed to the hospital some time after 3:00 p. m. He was told that he was on his deathbed. He “. . . raised up in bed and said he would outlive his enemies.” Later, however, the victim said to two persons that he knew he was going to die. He died at 6:00 p. m., after having made a declaration about the circumstances of the homicide. The declaration incorporated a statement about his awareness of impending death. The declaration was admitted as evidence.

Taken altogether, the case for admission of the declaration here is at least as strong as that presented in the *McNair* case. The finding of the trial judge was well within reasonable discretion and should not be set aside here.

POINT III.

THE ADMISSION OF THE SHERIFF'S TESTIMONY AS TO DECEASED'S DYING DECLARATION WAS NOT ERROR.

The same authorities advanced under Point II are apposite here. The testimony of Sheriff Gillette with respect to the dying declaration was not even objected to by defendant. Respondent is puzzled to know just what defendant would have the trial court do about the situation, absent objection, or motion to strike, or request for an in-

struction to disregard the testimony. At all events the evidence was perfectly admissible as outlined above.

POINT IV.

THE VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Defendant's final point is that the evidence does not support the verdict. Defendant's argument is that deceased's carrying of a loaded gun at the time of his entry into the house is no evidence that he intended to kill deceased, but should rather have been interpreted merely as an attempt at self-protection against Dayton, who hated him.

The jury found otherwise. Under the evidence this is the case of a man who, having violently quarreled with the woman whom he later killed, borrowed a small gun, easily concealed on his person; who drove, after midnight, to her house and broke in by the forcible cutting of a screen door; who entered the bedroom and flashed on the light; and who then, regardless of the presence of deceased's daughter, fired the fatal gunshots, as he had threatened.

From all this, the jury was not only warranted in finding, but was in all conscience compelled to find, the requisite malice aforethought and pre-meditation.

The verdict rendered was the only verdict possible, and this is so with or without the inconsequential evidentiary matters to which defendant has addressed his Points I, II, and III. Respondent believes that when this court scrutinizes the record as a whole there will emerge a settled con-

viction as to defendant's guilt. In *State v. Woods*, 62 U. 397, 220 P. 215, cited above, evidence that was plainly erroneous came before the jury. This court concluded, however, that the evidence of the defendant's guilt was so overwhelming that the result of the trial was unaffected, and the conviction was affirmed. The *Woods* case would clearly warrant affirmance here, particularly in view of the minor nature of the incidents complained of, even should the court conclude that there was error. This is an obvious case of first degree murder. It is submitted further that this record is singularly free of any error.

CONCLUSION

Respondent earnestly urges that defendant had a completely fair trial, and was correctly adjudged guilty of first degree murder. The jury would have been wrong to have reached a different conclusion. The case should be remanded to the District Court with instructions to proceed in accordance with law.